COPY

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CP-00581-COA

LESLIE J. CORTEZ

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

JUN 19 2008

Office of the Clerk
Supreme Court
Court of Appeals

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

APPELLANT BRIEF

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

Leslie Cortez

LESLIE J. CORTEZ, #61455
DELTA CORRECTIONAL FACILITY
3800 COUNTY Rd. 540
GREENWOOD, MS. 38930

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI
NO. 2008-CP-00581-COA

LESLIE J. CORTEZ

APPELLANT

VS,

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN THE FAILURE TO GRANT DEFENSE INSTRUCTION ON LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE OF TRESPASSING

2. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PLAIN ERROR WHEN IT INSTRUCTED THE JURY ABOUT EXHIBIT NUMBER FOUR, AND THE COURT'S INSTRUCTION WAS AN IMPROPER COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR ALLOWING THE COURT'S IMPROPER CONDUCT

3. APPELLANT WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL BY THE UNPROFESSIONAL ACTIONS OF TRIAL COUNSEL

STATEMENT OF CASE

On or about the 31st day of January, 2008, Appellant Leslie Cortez, did file into the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi, his Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence of his conviction for Burglary of a Dwelling House pursuant to Mississippi Code Ann. Section 97-17-23 (1972), and his subsequent sentence of Twenty-Five (25) years with the Mississippi Department of Corrections as an habitual offender pursuant to Mississippi Code Ann. Section 99-19-81 (2000), being Cause No. 2008-46-C.

On or about the 19th day of February, 2008, the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi, denied relief and dismissed the Motion pursuant to Mississippi Code Ann. Section 99-39-11(2) (as amended). Appellant did file a timely Notice of Appeal and the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi, granted Appellant leave to proceed in forma pauperis on appeal to this Court.

This Appeal stems from the denial of the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi, of Appellant's Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence in Cause No. 2008-46-C.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant, Leslie Cortez, (hereinafter known as Appellant), raised in his Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence, that the trial court did abuse its discretion in the failure to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense of trespassing. Appellant's trial counsel had sought the lesser-included offense instructions over the objections from the State. But this defense theory was lost, then, misconstrued during the trial court's and State's discussion of whether this was a proper lesser-included offense.

Trial counsel in his preference to the court for the lesser-included offense instruction, did fail to properly prepare the lesser-included offense instructions for the trial court's consideration. This deficient performance of trial counsel caused the trial court to have only one option in the consideration of a lesser-included offense instruction on trespassing, and that was the State's Instruction S-1-A.

This deficient performance of trial counsel did prejudice the Appellant as, the State's Instruction S-1-A was confusing and misleading on the lesser-included offense of trespassing. Also, S-1-A was not a proper lesser-included offense instruction because of its inaccurate and confusing nature. Trial counsel was deficient in the failure to raise an objection to it being given.

Trial counsel should have requested that the trial court present its own lesser-included offense instructions, or allow trial counsel to prepare

Such instructions on this defense theory for the jury's consideration. In trial counsel's failure to make this request to the trial court, did deny appellant of his due process right to have his defense theory presented to the jury.

The trial court once the question of the lesser-included defense instruction was presented, should have sua sponte allowed trial counsel to prepare and proffer such instructions for the jury's consideration. As this was the only defense that the appellant had to offer to the charge of burglary. So that, the trial court's failure to allow the jury to be properly instructed on this defense theory, did deny the appellant of his due process rights to a fair trial. This lesser-included offense instruction of trespassing was a proper instruction as, the state had failed to prove the prerequisite element of larceny, which must be proved for a conviction of burglary.

The problem with the giving of Instruction 5-1-A as the lesser-included offense instruction, was that the offending instruction appears to give the jury an additional option of finding the appellant guilty if he committed only one element of the crime, even without the finding that the crime was completed.

Even if the jury read all the instructions together, they could still mislead the jury into believing that instruction 5-1-A was merely another option in addition to the choice that appellant, (absence the state's failure to prove the larceny element), was guilty of burglary.

The trial court's failure to properly instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense of trespassing was plain error, as there was sufficient evidence that was presented to support this defense theory. So that the trial court's failure to properly instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense of trespassing, seriously impaired the appellant's ability to effectively present a given defense.

Appellant asserts that he has been denied his due process right to a fair trial, and that the judgment and sentence imposed by the circuit court of Rankin County, Mississippi should be vacated as a matter of law. So that, upon the vacation of the judgment and sentence, this court should find that the jury verdict of guilty on the crime of burglary was outside the weight of the evidence, and this court should reverse and render on the conviction of burglary, and remand this case back to the circuit court for resentencing on the crime of malicious trespassing.

During the deliberations by the jury in the case sub judice, the jury did present a question to the trial court concerning Exhibit Number Four, which was a dual picture of the jimmied trailer door, and the gloves that were found in the closet of the alleged burglary victim. The following colloquy took place concerning this picture:

THE COURT: Okay, let's get the defendant back in here. There's a question. The jury has stepped out and handed the bailiff State's Exhibit Number 4, and asked the question, "Was this exhibit one or two pictures and what date was it taken?" The question they asked Mr. Sheffield was it one or two pictures and what was the date the picture was taken.

MR. EMFINGER (District Attorney): I would love to answer that, but I don't think you can.

MR. DUGGAN (Defense Counsel): I don't think you can.

MR. EMFINGER: Ken McBroome testified that that picture was taken on October 24th. I don't know whether that's one or two pictures. I guess they're looking at the door and seeing things separate and they're wondering if it's two pictures.

MR. DUGGAN: It's one picture.

MR. EMFINGER: It's one picture and it was taken on October 24th of 2000. Now, can you answer that?

THE COURT: What's the state's position relative to how I respond? And what's the defendant's position?

MR. EMFINGER: I've got no problem with you answering the question if the defense doesn't. That is it's one picture that was taken on October 24th.

MR. DUGGAN: No objection.

This was an improper comment by the trial court on specific evidence by the trial court. Also, in the trial court's interpretation of Exhibit Number Four to the jury, was a judicial comment on the evidence. In that the trial court's answer to this question did actually invade the deliberation process of the jury. The facts of act of the trial court's interpretation of evidence, was a violation of Mississippi Code Ann. Section 99-17-35, which reads in pertinent part: "The judge in any criminal cause, shall not sum up or comment on the testimony or charge the jury as to the weight of evidence...."

Later on the trial court expressed its misgivings about the faux pas it had committed when the trial court was again confronted with another question from the jury. The trial court did refuse to answer the second question by stating his misgivings on the trial court's answer to their first question:

(Tr. 98-99)

THE COURT: All right, Mr. Sheffield, you are authorized to say to them that it's one picture and it was taken on October 24, 2000.

MR. DUGGAN: Sure.

THE COURT: Is that agreeable by the defendant?

MR. EMFINGER: We would agree for the bailiff to tell them. It's one picture, and it's October 24th of 2000.

THE COURT: Do you want me to do that in writing, or Mr. Sheffield, tell them one picture, October 24, 2000.

THE COURT: I think that it's appropriate for me to state or write a response that says, "You have been fully instructed on the law." Quite frankly, I wish I would have done similarly, even though I had two good counsel to get me to answer a question before. And maybe the Supreme Court will have mercy on me saying that that's harmless error. "You have been fully instructed on the law."

MR. DUGGAN: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: I will say that the question I answered previously is the one and only question I will answer because the feeling in my gut is not a good feeling. I guess my other comment relative to answering that question would be that it was the evidence presented on the witness stand the date and the picture.

(Tr. 99-100)

It is clear from this exchange, that, the trial court understood the real enormity of the error that that court had committed. But what the trial court did fail to inform the jury, was the fact that this was not in actuality one picture, but rather was two pictures placed together and then copied on a copying machine.

The failure of the trial court to properly interpret the evidence, only added insult to injury, as, the jury was misled on a crucial piece of evidence. So that, it was apparent from the jury's question, that, they were confused by the composition of the picture as, it was actually two pictures. When the trial court did state that it was actually one picture, the trial court made an interpretation of the evidence for the jury. This was plain error on the part of the trial court.

Trial counsel was deficient in allowing the trial court to comment on specific evidence to the jury. Trial counsel understood that this picture was actually a composite of two different pictures. Instead of raising objections to the trial court's interpretation of exhibit Number Four, trial counsel agreed in allowing the trial court to present a false impression to the jury on a crucial piece of evidence. This was deficient performance of counsel and was especially egregious as, it allowed the trial court to invade the province of the fact-finder in the deliberation process.

This deficient performance of counsel did prejudice this appellant, as it did deny him of his right to a fair trial by an impartial jury as guaranteed by Article 3, Section 36 of the Mississippi Constitution, and the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

It cannot be said with any certainty what affect this error had on the jury's decision to vote guilty on the charge of burglary. Also, this deficient performance was outside the wide range of professional conduct expected of an attorney in a jury trial. As there is a reasonable probability that if not for appellant's trial counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the trial would have been different.

Appellant has been denied his due process right to a fair trial and the effective assistance of counsel. As it was plain error for the trial court to comment on specific evidence, and did invade the province of the jury to interpret the evidence.

During the course of the Appellant's trial, trial counsel would not sit at the defense table, rather trial counsel sit at the table with the prosecutor. This was unprofessional conduct on the part of trial counsel, as, it projected an idea to the jury that trial counsel wanted to distance himself from the Appellant. Furthermore, the actions of trial counsel made it impossible for Appellant to communicate with his trial counsel.

Article 3, Section 36 of the Mississippi Constitution, and the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a criminal defendant the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Also the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct, 1.1, states the following:

"A lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client. Competent representation requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary for the representation."

Trial counsel's unprofessionalism was apparent, as any attorney with skills in criminal trials would know what impression the jury would draw by him sitting at the prosecution's table during the trial. The jury would most likely conclude that Appellant's trial counsel did not want to be seen at the same table with the Appellant. Also the jury more likely than not could assume that trial counsel thought the Appellant guilty.

Then, when you couple this with trial counsel's closing argument, where trial counsel did state that the Appellant was stupid and dumb, then it becomes apparent the chilling effect that trial counsel's actions must have had on the jury. (Tr. 88, 89).

The antics of appellant's trial counsel were outside the wide range of professional competent assistance. As, trial counsel's conduct gave the jury the impression that trial counsel had a partisan attitude for the cause of the prosecution. This caused the appellant to be denied his right to only be tried by an impartial jury.

Appellant asserts that he was denied his right to the effective assistance of counsel by the deficient performance of counsel, and that, trial counsel's errors were so egregious that he was prejudiced in his defense, to the extent that, he has been deprived a fair trial.

ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN THE FAILURE TO GRANT DEFENSE INSTRUCTION ON LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE OF TRESPASSING

The trial court in the case sub judice, abused its discretion in the failure to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense of trespassing. Trial counsel had sought to have the jury instructed on this lesser-included offense over the objections of the state. The Mississippi Supreme Court held that a defendant is entitled to have his theory of defense presented to the jury. See, Drake v. State, 800 So.2d 503, 518 (Miss. 2001) (citing Triplett v. State, 612 So.2d 1184, 1186 (Miss. 1996)). This defense theory was lost to the appellant when the trial court failed to properly instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense of trespassing.

The lesser-included offense instructions were merited by the evidence presented at trial, and did pass the test as set forth in Harper v. State, 478 So.2d 1017 (Miss. 1985), for the giving of the lesser included offense instruction. The Mississippi Supreme Court held:

"[A] lesser included offense instruction should be granted unless the trial judge- and ultimately this Court- can say, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the accused, and considering all reasonable favorable inferences which may be drawn in favor of the accused from the evidence, that no reasonable jury could find the defendant guilty of the lesser included offense (and conversely not guilty of at least one essential element of the principal charge)." Id.

In the case of the appellant, the lesser-included offense instruction was merited, as there was an evidentiary basis in the record. The state had failed to prove the constitute element of larceny, of the which has to be proved to make one guilty of burglary. The trial court should have instructed the jury on the lesser-included offense of trespassing. See, Ruffin v. State, 444 So.2d 839, 840 (Miss. 1984).

Trial counsel in his proffer to the trial court of the lesser-included offense instruction, did fail to properly prepare such lesser-included instruction for that court's consideration. This deficient performance of counsel did cause the court to have only one option in its consideration on a lesser-included instruction on trespassing, and that was the state's instruction S-1-A. See, e.g., United States v. Span, 75 F.3d 1383, 1390 (9th Cir. 1996) (counsel's failure to request jury instructions was ineffective assistance because was only defense available to the defendant).

This deficient performance of counsel did prejudice the appellant, as the state's instruction, S-1-A, was confusing and misleading on the lesser-included offense of trespassing. As the Mississippi Supreme Court pointed out in Kidd v. State, 258 So.2d 423, 429 (Miss. 1972), that one problem with confusing and unclear instructions is they make it "possible to have twelve different interpretations of the abstract principles of law, assuming that the jurors understood and were sufficiently skilled in determining legal questions to apply the instructions correctly." See also, Film Transport Co. v. Crapps, 214 Miss. 126, 135, 58 So.2d 364 (1952).

Trial counsel was further deficient in the failure to object to state's instruction S-1-A, and in the failure in not requesting that the trial court present its own lesser-included offense instruction. See, Gray v. Lynn, 6 F.3d 265, 269-70 (5th Cir. 1993). The trial court also should have allowed trial counsel time to prepare such instructions on this defense theory for the jury's consideration.

This deficient performance of counsel was clearly ineffective assistance of counsel within the meaning of the United States Supreme Court's definition in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). This failure to properly instruct the jury on the defense theory of trespassing denied the appellant of his due process right to a fair trial. Such instructions were legally correct, did represent a theory of defense with basis in the record which would lead to acquitted on the charge of burglary,

AND, SUCH THEORY WAS NOT PRESENTED ELSEWHERE IN THE CHARGE. SEE, UNITED STATES V. RUBIO, 834 F.2d 442, 447 (5th Cir. 1987).
Furthermore, the problem with the giving of instruction 5-1-A as the lesser-included offense instruction, was that the offending instruction appears to give the jury an additional option of finding the appellant guilty if he committed only one element of the crime of burglary.

IT IS HEREBY CRIMINAL LAW THAT BEFORE CONVICTION MAY STAND THE STATE MUST PROVE EACH ELEMENT OF THE OFFENSE CHARGED. NOT ONLY IS THIS A REQUIREMENT OF THE LAW IN THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, ALSO DUE PROCESS REQUIRES THAT THE STATE PROVE EACH ELEMENT OF THE OFFENSE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT. SEE, NEAL V. STATE, 451 So.2d 743, 757 (Miss. 1984). A LOGICAL COROLLARY OF THIS PRINCIPLE IS THAT BECAUSE THE STATE HAS TO PROVE EACH ELEMENT OF THE CRIME BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT, THEN THE STATE ALSO HAS TO ENSURE THAT THE JURY IS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED WITH REGARD TO THE ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME. SEE, HOSFORD V. STATE, 525 So.2d 789, 792 (Miss. 1988).

IT HAS BEEN FOUND THAT WHEN AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF THE OFFENSE IS OMITTED, IT FAILS TO INFORM THE JURY THAT THEY COULD CONSIDER THE LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE. SEE, BARNES V. STATE, 118 Miss. 621, 79 So. 815 (1918). IT HAS ALSO BEEN FOUND THAT INSTRUCTIONS WHICH CUT OFF THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO CONSIDER A LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE, ARE SO PREJUDICIAL TO A FAIR TRIAL THAT THEY ARE PLAIN ERROR. SEE, E.G., McMILLIN V. STATE, 291 So.2d 537, 541 (Miss. 1974).

Such WAS the CASE of Instruction 5-1-A. The INSTRUCTION that were presented to the jury were so CONFUSING that, during deliberations the jury SENT A NOTE ASKING the COURT to CLARIFY the INSTRUCTIONS. The jury ASKED whether "would breaking in ESTABLISH INTENT?" (Tr. 99). It goes without SAYING, that, the jury INSTRUCTIONS, ESPECIALLY 5-1-A, did NOT INSTRUCT the jury ON AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF the CRIME of burglary. APPELLANT ASSERTS that he WAS DENIED his due process right to A FAIR trial by the giving OF 5-1-A.

This COURT should VACATE the judgment AND SENTENCE, ALSO the COURT should FIND the jury VERDICT outside the weight OF the EVIDENCE, AND IN DOING SO, this COURT should direct A verdict of guilty ON the CRIME OF MALICIOUS TRESPASSING. The Mississippi Supreme COURT held in Wells v. State, 305 So.2d 333, 338 (Miss. 1974) the following:

"[T]RESPASSING IS NECESSARILY A COMPONENT OF EVERY BURGLARY. IMPLICIT IN THE VERDICT FINDING DEFENDANT GUILTY OF BURGLARY IS THE FINDING THAT HE WAS GUILTY OF THE CONSTITUENT OFFENSE OF TRESPASS, SECTION 91-17-87, MISSISSIPPI CODE ANN. (1972). INASMUCH AS THE JURY HAS FOUND THE DEFENDANT GUILTY OF THE GREATER CRIME, AND THE EVIDENCE OF DEFENDANT'S GUILT OF TRESPASS IS CONCLUSIVE, THE JUDGMENT IS AFFIRMED AS A CONVICTION OF TRESPASS, AND THE CASE IS REMANDED FOR SENTENCING ON THAT CHARGE." SEE, WASHINGTON V. STATE, 222 Miss. 782, 77 So.2d 260 (1955).

2. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PLAIN ERROR WHEN IT INSTRUCTED THE JURY ABOUT EXHIBIT NUMBER FOUR, AND THE COURT'S INSTRUCTION WAS AN IMPROPER COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR ALLOWING THE COURT'S IMPROPER CONDUCT

During the jury deliberations, the jury did present a question to the trial court concerning Exhibit Number Four. The trial court after having discussions about the jury's question with the state's attorney and trial counsel, made an impermissible comment on the evidence by giving the jury an interpretation of Exhibit Number Four.

In the trial court doing this was plain error as, the Mississippi Supreme Court admonishes trial judges that they are not to comment on the evidence to the jury. In HANSEN v. STATE, 592 So.2d 119 (Miss. 1991), the Court stated: "Our criminal procedure has long perceived dangers in comments upon the evidence, and in that regard we have for years had a statute, Mississippi Code Ann. Section 99-17-35, which reads in pertinent part: 'The judge in any criminal cause, shall not sum up or comment on the testimony or charge the jury as to the weight of evidence. . . .'" HANSEN, 592 So.2d at 141.

It has long been established in the courts of the state of Mississippi, that instructions to the jury should not single out or contain comments on specific evidence. See, Voyles v. State, 362 So.2d 1236 (Miss. 1978). In the case sub judice, the trial court not only made a comment on a specific piece of evidence, but also gave the jury an interpretation of that evidence.

This WAS plain error ON the part of the trial court AS defined by the Mississippi Supreme Court in Williams v. State, 794 So.2d 181 (Miss. 2001). The Williams Court stated that the plain error doctrine has been construed to include ANYTHING that "seriously affects the fairness, integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings." United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 732 (1993). "The plain error doctrine requires that there be AN error AND that the error must have resulted in A manifest miscarriage of justice." Williams, 794 So.2d At 187.

It cannot be said with certainty what affect the trial court's instruction to the jury had on their evaluation of the evidence. But, it goes without saying that in the trial court's interpretation of Exhibit Four to the jury did seriously affect the integrity and public reputation of the judicial proceeding.

Trial counsel was deficient in allowing the trial court to make a comment on the evidence. This deficient performance of trial counsel was especially egregious, AS, it allowed the trial court to invade the province of the fact-finder in the deliberation process.

Appellant has been prejudiced by this deficient performance of counsel, AS, he has been denied his right to a fair trial by an impartial jury. And does meet the two-prong standard set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), and this Appellant was denied his right to the effective assistance of counsel.

3. APPELLANT WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL BY THE UNPROFESSIONAL ACTIONS OF TRIAL COUNSEL

Appellant has been denied his right to a fair trial by an impartial jury by the unprofessional actions of his trial counsel during his trial. Trial counsel refused to sit at the defense table with the appellant. Rather, trial counsel did array himself with the prosecution by sitting at the table of the prosecution.

What affect the action on the part of trial counsel had on the jury is anybody's guess. But, it can be said that these actions of trial counsel, could be said to fall below the wide range of professional conduct expected of attorneys in criminal trials.

These actions on the part of trial counsel, could be said to render the adversarial testing process to become a farce. See, Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984).

The United States Supreme Court held in McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 n.14 (1970), that, the Sixth Amendment right to counsel is a right to the effective assistance of counsel. But, in the case sub judice, when trial counsel did separate himself from the appellant by sitting at the table of the prosecution, not only made it impossible for the appellant to communicate with his trial counsel, but it also projected the idea to the jury that trial counsel was on the side of the prosecution.

The Mississippi Supreme Court stated in Sanders v. State, 440 So.2d 278

(Miss. 1983) that:

"The relationship of the accused to his lawyer provides a critical factual context here. As he stands before the bar of justice, the indicted often have few friends. The one person in the world upon whose judgment and advice, skill and experience, loyalty and integrity that defendant must be able to rely, is his lawyer. This is as it should be."

Sanders, 440 So.2d at 286.

The actions on the part of his trial counsel was unprofessional, and, it can be presumed to have had a prejudicial affect on the jury. Appellant was denied his right to counsel and a fair trial that is guaranteed by Article 3, section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE PREMISES CONSIDERED, Appellant moves this Court to reverse and remand his case back to the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi with directions to vacate the sentence on the charge of burglary, and sentence him on the charge of trespassing, and for what other relief this Court deems just and proper.