IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

COPY

LESLIE J. CORTEZ

APPELLANT

VS.

FILED

NO. 2008-CP-0581-COA

JUL 08 2008

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS**

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

**BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
POST OFFICE BOX 220
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. CORTEZ'S JURY INSTRUCTION ISSUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AS IT WAS CAPABLE OF DETERMINATION ON DIRECT APPEAL.
- II. CORTEZ'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY COMMENTED UPON THE EVIDENCE IS LIKEWISE PROCEDURALLY BARRED AS IT WAS CAPABLE OF DETERMINATION ON DIRECT APPEAL.
- III. CORTEZ DID NOT RECEIVE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 16, 2002, Leslie Cortez was tried and convicted by a Rankin County Circuit Court jury of burglary of a dwelling. C.P. 61. He was sentenced as a habitual offender to twenty-five years in the custody of MDOC. C.P. 62. This honorable Court subsequently affirmed Cortez's conviction and sentence. C.P. 83-87. Cortez moved the lower court for post-conviction relief. After reviewing Cortez's motion for post-conviction relief, as well as the trial transcript and entire criminal file, the trial court summarily dismissed the petition finding that no relief was warranted. C.P. 130.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Cortez's first two claims regarding jury instructions and an alleged improper comment on the evidence are procedurally barred as they were capable of determination on direct appeal. Cortez's ineffective assistance claim is supported only by his own bare allegation that defense counsel sat at the prosecutor's table. Even if true, such conduct is not deficient performance which could have prejudiced the defendant's case.

ARGUMENT

I. CORTEZ'S JURY INSTRUCTION ISSUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AS IT WAS CAPABLE OF DETERMINATION ON DIRECT APPEAL.

Claims which are capable of determination on direct appeal are procedurally barred from consideration in a motion for post-conviction relief. Miss. Code Ann. 99-39-21(1). Jury instruction issues are properly resolved on direct appeal and therefore barred from consideration when raised for the first time on a motion for post-conviction relief. *Gray v. State*, 887 So.2d 158, 171 (¶33) (Miss. 2004). Not only is Cortez's first claim procedurally barred, but also it is wholly without merit. He claims that the trial court erred in refusing his trespass instruction when he was in fact granted an instruction on trespass. C.P. 37. Accordingly, Cortez's first claim necessarily fails.

II. CORTEZ'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY COMMENTED UPON THE EVIDENCE IS LIKEWISE PROCEDURALLY BARRED AS IT WAS CAPABLE OF DETERMINATION ON DIRECT APPEAL.

Cortez's second assignment of error also involves an issue which should have been raised on direct appeal. Since it was not, he is procedurally barred from raising the issue for the first time in a motion for post-conviction relief. Miss. Code Ann. 99-39-21(1). Even if the issue was procedurally alive, it lacks merit. Cortez claims that the trial court improperly commented on the evidence when it allegedly answered a jury note in which the jury inquired whether a certain exhibit was composed of one or two photographs. The trial court allegedly answered, after being advised by the prosecutor and defense counsel, that the exhibit was composed of only one photograph.

In *Mickell v. State*, 735 So.2d 1031 (Miss.1999), the trial court committed reversible error by impermissibly commenting on the evidence in answering a jury note. The jury's note asked whether Mickell could be convicted of armed robbery if the gun was never found. *Id.* at 1033 (¶5). The trial court wrote "yes" on the return note. *Id.* Because whether or not Mickell had a gun was

a central issue in the case, the supreme court found that the trial court impermissibly commented upon the evidence. *Id.* at (¶10). However, in *Williams v. State*, 856 So.2d 571 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003), the trial court's decision to answer a jury note did not amount to an impermissible comment on the evidence. In *Williams*, the jury sent two notes asking which exhibits corresponded with each count. *Id.* at 576 (¶¶14-15). The court answered the notes and this Court stated the following. "In the present case, the notes sent by the jury did not require the judge to comment on the evidence, but merely required clarification on the 'housekeeping' type issue of which evidence went with which count, not like in *Mickell* where the judge's answer acted to seal the jury's verdict." *Id.* at 577 (¶17).

In the case *sub judice*, the trial judge simply clarified that an exhibit was composed of two photographs, not a single photograph. As in *Williams* this was simply a "housekeeping type issue," not a comment which impermissibly singled out a particular piece of evidence to "seal the jury's verdict." Accordingly, Cortez's second assignment of error must fail.

III. CORTEZ DID NOT RECEIVE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Cortez claims that trial counsel's performance was constitutionally deficient because defense counsel allegedly sat at the prosecutor's table. "[W]here a party offers only his affidavit, then his ineffective assistance of counsel claim is without merit." *Lindsay v. State*, 720 So.2d 182, 184(¶ 6) (Miss.1998). Cortez offers nothing more than a bare assertion that defense counsel sat at the prosecutor's table. In accordance with *Lindsay*, his ineffective assistance claim must fail. Even had Cortez offered record support for his allegation, such an action could not be considered deficient performance that would prejudice the defendant's case.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks this honorable Court to affirm the trial court's denial of post-conviction relief.